

Submission to

Independent Hospital Pricing Authority (IHPA)

Consultation Paper on the Pricing Framework for Australian Public Hospital Services 2020-21

October 2020

- 👂 106 Victoria St, West End Q 4101
- ☑ GPO Box 1289, Brisbane Q 4001
- (07) 3840 1444
- (07) 3844 9387
- gnmu@qnmu.org.au
- www.qnmu.org.au



Contents

What changes have occurred to service delivery, activity levels and models of care as a result of COVID-19?
Activity levels5
Models of Care
Nurse Navigators6
Nurse Practitioners6
Telehealth6
Hospital in The Home (HITH)6
Midwifery
What aspects of the national pricing model will IHPA need to consider adapting to reflect changes in service delivery and models of care?
Are the Pricing Guidelines still relevant in providing guidance on IHPA's role in pricing Australian public hospital services?
How can IHPA further support development of pricing for community mental health services using AMHCC Version 1.0 to transition to shadow pricing?
Are there any impediments to pricing admitted mental health care using AMHCC Version 1.0 for NEP21?
Do you support the adjustment IHPA has proposed for NEP21?
Are there other clinical areas where introducing price harmonization should be considered
What comments do stakeholders have regarding the innovative funding models being considered by IHPA?10
Bundled Pricing10
What other strategic areas should IHPA consider in developing a framework for future funding models?12
Value-based health care12
Nurse-to-Patient Ratios
Nurse Navigators
Apart from the IHI, what other critical success factors are required to support the implementation of innovative funding models?
Do you support IHPA's proposed pricing model for avoidable hospital readmissions, unde funding option one at a jurisdiction scope level?13

What additional aspects does IHPA need to consider when implementing a	ı funding
adjustment for avoidable hospital readmissions?	13
Nurse Navigators	13
Midwifery	13
Evidence-based approach	13
References	15

Introduction

The Queensland Nurses and Midwives' Union (QNMU) thanks the Independent Hospital Pricing Authority (IHPA) for the opportunity to comment on the consultation paper on the pricing framework for Australian Public Hospital Services 2021-22.

Nursing and midwifery is the largest occupational group in Queensland Health (QH) and one of the largest across the Queensland government. The QNMU is the principal health union in Queensland covering all classifications of workers that make up the nursing and midwifery workforce including registered nurses (RN), midwives (RM), nurse practitioners (NP) enrolled nurses (EN) and assistants in nursing (AIN) who are employed in the public, private and not-for-profit health sectors including aged care.

Our more than 64,000 members work across a variety of settings from single person operations to large health and non-health institutions, and in a full range of classifications from entry level trainees to senior management. The vast majority of nurses in Queensland are members of the QNMU.

This year 2020 will be dedicated to celebrating the International year of the Nurse and the Midwife, in celebration of the 200th year anniversary of the birth of the founder of contemporary nursing, Florence Nightingale. The World Health Organisation (WHO) nominated Nurses and Midwives for their invaluable contribution to health care and to highlight the need for a strengthened Nursing and Midwifery workforce to achieve Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) and universal health coverage. The QNMU is proud to embrace this opportunity to invest in the Nursing and Midwifery professions, particularly the investment into minimum safe staffing ratios and skill mix across all health sectors.

The QNMU's submission responds to a subset of the consultation questions, with a particular focus on the following aspects as they relate to nursing and midwifery:

- Impacts and lessons learned through the COVID-19 pandemic
- Exploration of innovative funding models
- Value-based care as it represents a more consumer focused method of categorising healthcare to improve the quality of patient experiences and outcomes;
- Nurse and midwifery-led models of care that allow nurses and midwives to practice to their full scope; and
- Bundled pricing in maternity services.

What changes have occurred to service delivery, activity levels and models of care as a result of COVID-19?

Activity levels

The COVID-19 global pandemic has significantly disrupted the health care system. As a result, the QNMU has observed a significant decrease in activity levels influenced by the decrease in presentations to emergency departments, cessation of elective procedures and a shift in focus towards pandemic planning and preparedness processes (Grattan Institute, 2020).

Health care systems have been required to remain agile to manage potential surges in COVID-19 patients and anticipate a significant backlog of surgical work, delayed access and late presentations to hospital and health services (Lynn et al., 2020). Usual primary care practices including prevention, screening early detection and patient monitoring have been cancelled, postponed or converted to telemedicine as part of the pandemic response (Wright et al., 2020). As health care systems focus on treating affected patients and infection control measures, there is a risk of surges in patients with delayed diagnosis and treatments (Wright et al., 2020). Retaining an expanded nursing and midwifery workforce is vital in order to deal with potential surges in COVID-19 and non-COVID-19 related health care demands. The QNMU continues to advocate for all classifications of nurses and midwives to expand nurseled, midwife-led models of care to their full scope of practice beyond the pandemic, to improve health care delivery and patient outcomes.

Models of Care

The COVID-19 pandemic has further emphasised the critical role that nurses and midwives play in health care delivery and patient outcomes. The QNMU acknowledges that whilst the COVID-19 pandemic has caused mass devastation, there is a distinct opportunity for change. The skills and experience of nurses and midwives can be enhanced through implementing innovative models of care, enabling nurses and midwives to work to their full scope of practice, revising standards of care, workforce capacity and workforce design and health and safety standards across all sectors post COVID-19. Nurse-led and midwife-led models of care ensure a more accessible, productive and safer health and aged care systems.

The QNMU considers that significant opportunities also exist to enhance access and responsiveness via the use of technology, and as demonstrated during the pandemic. Nurses and midwives are well positioned to advance technology enhanced care. Further consideration and support should be given to nurses and midwives to support the optimal utilisation of technologies within health care, including the application of artificial intelligence in health settings, given the pivotal role nurses and midwives pay in care coordination and keeping our health system "human". The use of technology enhanced care, such as telehealth, improves provisions of health services and offers the potential to address many health systems issues during and after the COVID-19 pandemic (Monaghesh & Hajizadeh, 2020).

The QNMU seeks greater funding recognition for innovative nurse and midwifery-led models of care. We wish to highlight the following models of care that have been utilised during the COIVD-19 pandemic response.

Nurse Navigators

Nurse navigators are an example of a flexible workforce that successfully adapted to the changing demands of the Queensland health care systems throughout the COVID-19 pandemic response. Nurse navigators played an integral role in protecting vulnerable clients with multiple co-morbidities and chronic respiratory conditions, whilst managing their usual caseloads. Initially, some Hospital and Health Services (HHS) deployed nurse navigators to lead fever clinics. Many nurse navigators responded with innovative solutions such as coordinating care in the community, partnering with primary care networks, community-based health teams and other services. Key examples of nurse navigator's flexibility are the development of virtual models of care in the community, enhancing Hospital in the Home (HITH) and Hospital in the Nursing Home (HINH) models. These models were highly successful in keeping vulnerable populations outside of the acute hospital system during this crucial time. The advancement of such models will greatly support the necessary shift to a better integrated and high value health system.

Nurse Practitioners

The QNMU advocates for the expansion of the nurse practitioner workforce to provide additional surge capacity for future COVID-19 and other emergency response needs. Nurse practitioners can operate independently to prescribe, order tests and provide cost-effective care for patients. The QNMU suggests the need for an active plan to identify roles for nurse practitioners and support for education for candidates and funding and recruitment into roles. We encourage IHPA to consider alternative models of care such as the use of nurse practitioner-led models to enable nurses to work to their full scope of practice. In our view, greater integration of these models will add value, support health system integration and reduce costs.

Telehealth

The COVID-19 response has required many health services and health professionals to transition to telehealth models of care. Whilst telehealth does not replace the importance of human connectedness or the need for appropriate face-to-face appointments and clinical examinations, the value for telehealth in the right context is considerable.

Hospital in The Home (HITH)

The pandemic has necessitated a transition to hospital avoidance models of care, to reduce surges in demand for hospital services. Hospital in the Home is a service that has been adopted in QLD to support patients, particularly in residential aged care facilities, to avoid unnecessary hospital admission or re-admission, and potential exposure to COVID-19. The role of nurses is critical in coordinating care across acute and non-cute settings and providing

communication between patients, families, aged care residential facilities and primary health services.

Midwifery

The QNMU wishes to acknowledge the important role that midwives have played in supporting pregnant and birthing women during the pandemic. COVID-19 has significantly impacted the way midwifery services have been delivered. Midwifery funding models have provided a vital opportunity to deliver care and maintain continuity throughout these unprecedented times. The implementation of electronic prescribing and the introduction of the home delivery services of Pharmaceutical Benefit Scheme (PBS) and Repatriation Schedule of Pharmaceutical (RPBS) medications during the pandemic, have enabled midwives to continue providing medicines to patients. Further measures such as increasing bulk-billing incentives and adding pathology diagnostics for COVID-19 screening as billable Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS) items have also been a valuable strategy. Such strategies enable care outside of the hospital setting, that is crucial to reduce the risk of COVID-19 infection and placing further emphasis on public safety.

The QNMU recommends expanding the Council of Australian Governments s19(2) exemptions initiative to include all geographical areas in Australia, not just in rural and remote localities (Department of Health, 2020). This expansion would enable midwives and nurses to work to their full scope of practice within community-based services, reducing the need for intervention from general practice clinics or hospital care (Department of Health, 2020). The QNMU advocates for the expansion of the MBS items available for nurses and midwives working in private practice and primary care settings.

What aspects of the national pricing model will IHPA need to consider adapting to reflect changes in service delivery and models of care?

The QNMU cautions against the potential for the National Pricing Model creating incentives for public hospitals to admit private patients, as this could interfere with public patients having adequate access to health care. The QNMU advocates for equitable access to health care services and cautions against the use of private patient revenue in the public system. This is a particular concern with regards to the potential surges in COVID-19 patients and non-COVID-19 related demands for health care. As such, the QNMU suggests that IHPA consider incentives that improve health service delivery and access to care through innovative nursing and midwifery-led models of care.

Are the Pricing Guidelines still relevant in providing guidance on IHPA's role in pricing Australian public hospital services?

The QNMU welcomes IHPA's efforts to identify alternative funding solutions that deliver high quality care and focuses on patient outcomes. The QNMU also supports IHPA's consideration of the need for innovative funding models to be financially neutral regardless of whether

patients elect to be public or private. We also express support for a sustainable public hospital network to ensure equitable access to health care. The QNMU promotes the need for an effective, efficient and value-based health system that is affordable and meets the growing needs of Queenslanders. In our view, the Pricing Guidelines are still relevant. However, we consider the need to further develop funding models that are value-based rather than activity based. We encourage IHPA to distribute these guidelines to various regulatory agencies for health and aged care, including the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission (ACQSC) and the Australian Commission for Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQSC). In the opinion of the QNMU, regulators should work in collaboration with agencies like IHPA to ensure consistent patient outcomes and standards across the health and aged care sectors.

How can IHPA further support development of pricing for community mental health services using AMHCC Version 1.0 to transition to shadow pricing?

The QNMU supports the development of pricing for community mental health services to transition to shadow pricing. However, the QNMU encourages the need for access to adequate data, that will inform evidence-based pricing. As such, we support IHPA's commitment to work with states and territories to expand the availability of data to be used for pricing in the future.

In our view, increasing data availability will also provide for greater funding recognition for the work of nurse navigators.

Are there any impediments to pricing admitted mental health care using AMHCC Version 1.0 for NEP21?

Mental health-related services are provided in Australia in a variety of ways, including:

- admitted patient care in hospital and other residential care;
- hospital-based outpatient services;
- community mental health care services;
- consultations with both specialist medical practitioners and general practitioners (GPs).

The Australian Government funds a range of mental health-related services through the MBS, and the Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS)/Repatriation Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (RPBS). The Australian Government also funds a range of mainstream programs and services which provide essential support for people with mental illness (AIHW, 2019).

The QNMU strongly recommends a review of the Australian Mental Health Care Classification (AMHCC) that considers an alternative funding model for diagnoses of people with less serious symptoms of conditions such as substance abuse, anxiety and depression. The class for funding does not currently provide inpatient care for less acute mental illness that has the potential to become severe if left untreated. The QNMU views these conditions as having a

high risk of deterioration and more acute mental illness by the time they present to a hospital, for instance after an attempted suicide or non-suicidal self-injury. The QNMU encourages the need for an early intervention and prevention model that addresses mental illness prior to patients presenting with serious illness or injuries. In our view, a prevention model is likely to be more cost effective and provide better outcomes for patients. For many, access to mental health services can be difficult and costly for those without private health insurance who cannot afford access to private sector services. The QNMU recommends the need to enhance universal early intervention and prevention mental health services and models in the public sector as the system is currently structured and funded to support the wealthy.

The QNMU supports IHPA in continuing to develop an approach to pricing for mental health care that is evidence-based. We believe that the pricing model should consider the complexity and risks of mental health care and expand aspects of health care to include acute, rehabilitation, and recovery in pricing models.

The QNMU believes that effective pharmacological and psychological treatments of depression are important in suicide prevention. Evidence indicates that psychological therapies can reduce suicidality and promote wellbeing in all age groups and across a range of diagnoses including depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and borderline personality disorder (Zalsman et al., 2016). However, further research is required to identify effective suicide prevention models and evidence-based approaches, in order to accurately price admitted mental health care.

Do you support the adjustment IHPA has proposed for NEP21?

The QNMU supports the need to make an adjustment for transport in rural areas, including medical transfers and other inter-service transports in rural areas, including medical transfers and other inter-service transports in rural areas. The QNMU views the adjustment as an opportunity to improve access to health services and bridge the health inequity gap for patients living in rural localities. We believe that better use and investment into telehealth services is required for populations living outside of metro areas. Greater funding of telehealth services is required, where specialists and GPs encourage active involvement of patients in their care, to build skills and capacity in the rural generalist medical workforce.

Are there other clinical areas where introducing price harmonization should be considered?

The QNMU believes that an objective for price harmonisation should be to facilitate best practice and enable nurses and midwives to provide adequate health care services. The QNMU encourages IHPA to base price harmonisation on the principles of value-based healthcare. The QNMU has long advocated for a value-based model as it places the focus on patients and patient outcomes (Porter, 2010).

What comments do stakeholders have regarding the innovative funding models being considered by IHPA?

Bundled Pricing

The QNMU recommends bundled pricing for maternity care as there is a significant body of evidence to support that midwifery continuity of care models improve outcomes for patients (Sandall, et al., 2013).

There are challenges with the current funding model around the 'unqualified' newborn. In 2017, there was a total of 309,142 births registered in Australia (ABS, 2018). Funding models do not recognise a newborn a separate entity unless the newborn is 'qualified'.

The 'qualified baby' is defined under Health Insurance Act 1973 regulations as a funded patient where:

- They occupy a bed of an accredited neonatal intensive care facility;
- They are a second or subsequent child of the same mother; or
- They are admitted without their mother

Qualified babies can receive neonatal care where newborns are suffering from an illness or disability and could involve monitoring, oxygen therapy, administration of IV drugs or post-surgical care. Babies requiring care such as phototherapy, drug administration and monitoring on the postnatal ward creates additional work for the midwifery staff, for which health services are not funded. The QNMU considers the need for a review of funding models to provide care to newborns. Funding for inpatient postnatal care must include a separate allocation of the newborn. Alternatively, funding for the mothers should be increased to account for the increased workload generated by the care of mother and baby.

Currently, most hospital staffing models are based on the number of inpatient mothers, whereby only the mother's care is funded. In our view, this funding model can lead to unsafe staffing practices. The QNMU believes that bundled pricing for maternity services could be used to provide an incentive for hospitals to practice evidence-based care and improve the safety and quality of care delivered to mothers and babies.

We continue to support the need for newborn care within the scope of the bundled pricing approach. The increased acuity of mother's results in increased demand on care requirements for an unqualified baby. Recent policy changes have also increased the required care for newborns, even if they are deemed low risk (Queensland Health, 2015).

Evidence indicates that midwifery-led continuity of care models for women provide a range of benefits including a reduction in interventions such as epidurals, episiotomies and instrumental births as well as a reduced likelihood of preterm birth or losing their baby before

24 weeks gestation (Sandall et al., 2013). Evidence also suggests that midwifery models of care can lead to a reduction in readmission rates (Coyne, et al. 2016). The QNMU recommends that all stages of maternity care should be eligible for bundled pricing, however antenatal and postnatal care could be bundled separately. We believe that separate bundled pricing will enable flexibility in costing and funding arrangements.

The QNMU acknowledges that included and excluded patient groups eligible for midwifery bundled pricing requires further exploration. However, bundling uncomplicated midwifery care and vaginal births will allow for the inclusion of the large majority of women. The QNMU encourages IHPA to explore the inclusion of antenatal and postnatal bundling outside of the hospital setting (i.e. community maternity care and services) to provide greater access to bundled pricing. This is a potentially useful funding model, given the uptake of community maternity care during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The QNMU recommends that IHPA consider aligning bundled pricing with evidence-based models of care to reinforce the implementation of best practice in public health services. We believe that midwifery models of care could be well supported by the introduction of bundled payments. The QNMU also recommends that IHPA consider funding for midwifery-led models of care in rural and remote locations. We believe that funding models should work to reduce health inequities faced by population living in rural or remote locations.

What other strategic areas should IHPA consider in developing a framework for future funding models?

Value-based health care

As previously mentioned, the QNMU supports the transition to value-based health care and funding model. The QNMU recognises that the current pricing guidelines are aligned with an Activity Based Funding (ABF) model, which IHPA has identified as a challenge for implementing alternative funding models. However, re-shaping the focus of health care systems to generate value for patients by improving outcomes, quality improvement and reducing costs will ultimately benefit patient care at the individual and population levels (Teisberg et al., 2020). The QNMU recommends a cultural shift is required to put patients at the forefront of health care. In our view, there needs to be a reassessment of our current funding models. IHPA should consider transitioning to a value-based model, to achieve improved patient outcomes long-term.

Value-based care encompasses health outcomes that are much broader than traditional clinical indicators. The resources or costs must reflect the actual costs of the care delivered to patients across the total course of care. This can be provided by multiple providers across multiple episodes of care (Teisberg et al., 2020).

Nurse-to-Patient Ratios

In July 2016, Queensland Health introduced nurse-to-patient ratios in 27 public hospitals. The evidence suggests that establishing safe nurse staffing standards improve patient and nurse workforce outcomes and provide savings from reduced avoided hospital readmissions, shorter length of stay and fewer complications (Aiken & McHugh, 2019). The QNMU views mandated ratios across all nursing and midwifery sectors as a key funding model to consider.

Nurse Navigators

As earlier mentioned, nurse navigators offer a vital role in the coordination of health services. Nurse navigators support and work across system boundaries and in close partnership with multidisciplinary teams and health service stakeholders to ensure patients receive the appropriate and timely care needed. Nurse navigators approach patient care with a high level of coordination and in-depth understanding of health systems, across a broad continuum of care. The role provides a centralised point of communication for patients to ensure the quality and consistency of healthcare for patients. In addition, the role provides education to improve patient's health literacy and support for patients to autonomously manage their health and health outcomes (Spooner et al., 2019). Nurse navigators have the potential to improve service integration, supporting the transition between acute and continued care (McMurray & Cooper, 2017). As such, the QNMU believes that nurse navigators should be included in future funding model frameworks.

Apart from the IHI, what other critical success factors are required to support the implementation of innovative funding models?

The QNMU believes that the implementation of innovative funding models is critical to health care delivery and outcomes. In order to implement a value-based model of funding, a strong national leadership strategy and cooperation is required from all jurisdictions to implement a national value-based funding system that focuses on patient outcomes first.

The QNMU considers the following critical success factors required to implement a value-based funding model:

- Creating partnerships with patients to support genuine co-design of services so that care remains patient focused (Woolcock, 2019)
- Identifying measurable outcomes in partnership with patients
- A national, cross-sector strategy for value-based health care in Australia
- Health workforce strategies supporting models of care that embrace a value-based approach (Woolcock, 2019)
- Funding systems that incentivise the delivery of value-based health care (Woolcock, 2019)
- Access to relevant and appropriate data

• Appropriate evaluation mechanisms

Do you support IHPA's proposed pricing model for avoidable hospital readmissions, under funding option one at a jurisdiction scope level?

The QNMU expresses general support for the proposed funding option one for avoidable hospital readmissions. Reducing the rates of avoidable hospital readmissions could significantly impact and improve hospital outcomes, which in turn improves hospital efficiency and cost effectiveness.

What additional aspects does IHPA need to consider when implementing a funding adjustment for avoidable hospital readmissions?

The QNMU suggests funding adjustments for avoidable hospital readmissions should be evidence-based, timely and cost-effective.

The QNMU asks that IHPA consider the following aspects when implementing a funding adjustment for avoidable hospital readmission:

Nurse Navigators

Nurse Navigators are positioned throughout Queensland Health in the hospital and health services to help reduce unplanned readmissions to hospital (Queensland Government, 2018). The QNMU strongly encourages IHPA to factor Nurse Navigators into hospital pricing and guidelines.

Midwifery

The QNMU advocates for adequate funding for mental health services for mother and baby units and appropriate funding for midwives to work across public and private sectors, as this has been a barrier for midwives to deliver adequate care during the COVID-19 response.

Evidence-based approach

The QNMU supports an evidence-based approach to reducing avoidable hospital readmissions. In our view, improving data capacity will inform best practice approaches to reduce readmissions. For instance, the QNMU encourages capturing data that identified the contribution of nurse navigators in reducing avoidable hospital readmissions. The tracking of health outcomes including avoidable hospital readmissions and the costs involved, is fundamental in value-based healthcare delivery (World Economic Forum & Boston Consulting Group, 2017).

The QNMU is aware that Queensland Health has commissioned a review of the pandemic response in Queensland to prepare advice to the Deputy Premier and Director General on how best to harness the opportunities for system reform arising from the pandemic response.

The Health Reform Group established to undertake this review and provide a "roadmap" for reforming the Queensland health system provided its report "Unleashing potential: an open and equitable health system: Healthcare for Queenslanders in a pandemic ready world" at the end of August 2020.

The group's recommendations aim to support an open, equitable and responsive health system to optimise the health of Queenslanders. The QNMU identifies a number of intersections between the issues currently being considered by IHPA and the Health Reform Group, given this review focused on supporting an integrated high value health system, workforce innovation and empowerment and accountable system governance and effective implementation of change.

Although this report has not yet been publicly released, the QNMU strongly recommends that IHPA contacts Queensland Health to ascertain when this report will be publicly available to consider the observations and recommendations made by this group as part of your consultation.

References

- Aitken, L., Sloane, D., Bruynell, L., Van den Heede, K., Griffiths, P., Busse, R., Diomidous, M., Kinnunen, J., Kozka, E., Lesaffre, E., McHugh, M., Moreno-Casbas, R., Scwendimann, P., Scott, X., Tishelman, T., Acterberg, T., Sermeus, W. (2014). Nurse staffing and education and hospital mortality in nine European countries: a retrospective observational study. *Lancet*, 383(9931):1824 -1830.
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2018). Births Australia 2017, Cat. No. 3301.0.
- Australian Healthcare & Hospitals Association. (2015). Bundled payments: their role in Australian primary health care. Retrieved from https://ahha.asn.au/sites/default/files/docs/policy-issue/bundled_payments_role_in_australian_primary_health_care_0.pdf
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. (2019). Mental Health Services In Brief 2018, Cat. No. HSE 211, Canberra, AIHW.
- Barton, A.J. (2010). Patient-centeredness and technology-enhanced care. *Clinical Nurse Specialist*, 24, 121-122.
- Department of Health. (2020). Council of Australian Governments (COAG) Improving Access to Primary Care in Rural and Remote Areas COAG s19(2) Exemptions Initiative. Retrieved from: https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/COAG%20s19(2) %20Exemptions%20Initiative
- Duckett, S. (2020). Coming out of COVID-19 lockdown: the next steps for Australian health care. Retrieved from: https://grattan.edu.au/report/coming-out-of-covid/
- Gill, A. (2020). Social determinants of health take centre stage during the Covid-19 crisis.

 Retrieved from: https://medcitynews.com/2020/05/social-determinants-ofhealth-take-center-stage-during-the-covid-19-crisis/
- Lankshear, A., Sheldon, R., Maynard, A. (2005). Nurse staffing and healthcare outcomes: a systematic review of the international research evidence. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 25(2):163-174.
- Lynn, R. M., Avis, J. L., Lenton, S., Amin-Chowdhury, Z., & Ladhani, S. N. (2020). Delayed access to care and late presentations in children during the COVID-19 pandemic: a snapshot survey of 4075 paediatricians in the UK and Ireland. *Archives of disease in childhood*.
- Miller, S., Abalos, E., Chamillard, M., Ciapponi, A., Colaci, D., Comande, D., Diaz, V., Geller, S., Hanson, C., Lander, A., Manuelli, V., Millar, K., Morhason-Bello, I., Pieleggi Castro, C., Pileggi, N., Robinson, N., Skaer, M., Paulo Souza, J., Vogel, J., Athabe, F. (2016).

- Beyond too little, too late and too much, too soon, a pathway towards evidence-based, respectful maternity care worldwide, *Lancet*.
- McHugh, M.D., Berez, J., Small, D.S., (2013). Hospitals with higher nurse staffing had lower odds of readmission penalties that hospitals with lower staffing. *Health Affairs*, 32(10), 1740 1747.
- Monaghesh, E., Hajizadeh, A. (2020). The role of telehealth during COVID-19 outbreak: a systematic review based on current evidence. *BMC Public Health*, 1193.
- Office of the State Coroner Queensland. (2011). Inquest into the death of Bela Heidrich, Queensland Coroners Court. Retrieved from:

 http://www.courts.qld.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0007/95515/cif-heidrich-b-20110629.pdf, Rockhampton, 2011.
- Porter, M. (2010). What is value in healthcare? New England Journal of Medicine, 363 (26), 2477-2481.
- Queensland Health. (2016). Nurse led Clinics Service Delivery Model. Retrieved from: https://www.health.qld.gov.au/improvement/improving-services/sdm-nurse-led
- Queensland Health. (2016). Value-based healthcare shifting from volume to value.

 Meeting report. Retrieved from:

 https://www.health.qld.gov.au/clinicalpractice/engagement/clinicalsenate?a=164313
- Queensland Health. (2013). Queensland Clinical Guildelines Neonatal Hypoglycaemia, Brisbane: Queensland Clinical Guidelines.
- Queensland Health. 2015. Gestational Diabetes Mellitus. Guideline No MN15.33-V1-R20, Brisbane: Queensland Clinical Guidelines.
- Sandall, J., Soltani, H., Gates, S., Shennan, A., Devane, D. (2016). Midwife-led continuity models versus other models of care for childbearing women. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- Shaw, D., Guise, J., Shah, N., Gemzell-Danielsson, N., Joseph, K., Levy, B., Wong, F., Wood, S., Main, E. (2016). Drivers of maternity care in high-income countries: can health systems support women-centred care? *Maternal Health*.
- Teisberg, E., Wallace, S., & O'Hara, S. (2020). Defining and Implementing Value-Based Health Care: A Strategic Framework. *Academic medicine : journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 95(5), 682–685. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.000000000003122

- Tubbs-Cooley, H., Cimiotti, J., Silber, J., Sloane, D., Aiken, L. (2013). An observational study of nurse staffing ratios and hospital readmission among children admitted for common conditions. *BMJ Quality and Safety*. 1-8.
- Twigg, D. Geehoed, E., Bremner, A., Duffield, C. (2013). The economic benefits of increased levels of nursing care in the hospital setting. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 69(10), 2253-2261.
- Weiss, M., Yakusheva, O. & Bobay, K. (2011) 'Quality and cost analysis of nurse staffing, discharge preparation, and postdischarge utilization', *Health Research and Educational Trust*, 46(5), 1473-1494.
- Woolcock K. (2019) Value Based Health Care: Setting the Scene for Australia, Deeble Institute for Health Policy Research, Issues Brief No. 31.
- World Economic Forum & Boston Consulting Group. (2017). Value in healthcare: laying the foundation for health system transformation, Retrieved from:

 http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_Insight_Report_Value_Healthcare_Laying_Foundation.pdf
- Wright, A., Salazar, A., Mirica, M., Volk, L. A., & Schiff, G. D. (2020). The Invisible Epidemic: Neglected Chronic Disease Management During COVID-19. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 35(9), 2816–2817. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-06025-4
- Zalsman, G., Hawton, K., Wasserman, D., van Heeringen, K., Arensman, E., Sarchiapone, M. (2016). Suicide prevention strategies, revisited: 10 year systematic review, *Lancet*, 3(7), 646-659.